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ABOUT SUN HING 

Sun Hing is one of the world’s leading manufacturers of premium ODM 

eyewear. Leveraging our decades of experience in the eyewear industry, we 

have developed an unique approach for product design and development. We 

are committed to deliver our customers with innovative product solutions. Our 

ODM customers include the most influential international brand names in the 

fashion world.

We have strong market presence with established distribution networks all 

over the world, particularly in Asia. In addition, we have exclusive licensing and 

distribution rights for eyewear for a wide range of brands with high growth 

potential. Our brand portfolio consists of reputable names including Levi’s, New 

Balance, Jill Stuart and agnès b..



DARING TO INNOVATE 
Our passion in eyewear drives us to continuously create exciting products that 

combine stunning design with functionality. We are fashion conscious and 

deeply understand the market. Our creative talents in design team embrace 

innovative ideas and transform them into high quality products that the market 

loves.

CUSTOMER ORIENTED
Every customer is our partner to achieve mutual business success. We put 

our customer first and pay attention to their every subtle business need. Our 

customer service team is devoted to provide our customers with responsive 

service and agile supply of high quality eyewear products. We are aiming to act 

as an irreplaceable part of our customers’ supply chains. 







PROFESSIONALISM 
AND CONTINUOUS 
GROWTH
Our competitiveness derives from our decades of manufacturing experience and 

our philosophy of continuous improvement. Our manufacturing experts plan 

each step of production in a proactive manner, execute the production processes 

with efficiency in mind, and control production quality with the highest level of 

diligence and professionalism. We continuously improve ourselves by exploring 

new technology and reinventing the way of production. We never stop to seek 

for breakthrough and build up strength for future growth.
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share certificates must be lodged 
with the Hong Kong Share Registrar 
not later than 4:00 p.m. on 30 
August 2018.

MANAGEMENT 
DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, 
the Group’s  performance was 
adversely affected by the slow-
down in the market demand for 
eyewear products. The Group’s 
consolidated turnover decreased by 
6.16% to HK$1,002 million (2017: 
HK$1,067 million). On the cost side, 
the persistent increase in operating 
costs in China where the Group’s 
product ion bases are located, 
and the renewed appreciation of 
Renminbi against the US dollar put 
enormous pressure on the Group. 
Against  such a  backdrop,  the 
Group’s profitability was weakened 
and its gross profit margin decreased 
to 24.53% (2017: 25.09%). The 
Group attempted to carry out various 
efforts to streamline production and 
enhance efficiency, but the efficiency 
gains from those measures were not 
able to fully offset the negative cost 
impact. As a result, net profit margin 
of the Group decreased to 6.42% 
(2017: 6.61%).

2018. This final and final special 
dividend, together with the interim 
and interim special dividend of 
HK6.0 cents per share already paid, 
will make a total distribution of 
HK18.0 cents per share for the full 
year. The final dividend and final 
special dividend are expected to 
be paid on or about 13 September 
2018.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF 
MEMBERS

The register of members of the 
Company will be closed from 20 
August 2018 to 24 August 2018 
(both days inclusive) and from 31 
August 2018 to 5 September 2018 
(both days inclusive), during which 
period no transfer of shares will be 
effected. In order to be eligible to 
attend and vote at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting of the 
Company, all transfers of shares 
accompanied by the relevant share 
certificates must be lodged with 
the Company’s share registrar 
in Hong Kong, Union Registrars 
Limited, Suites 3301–04, 33/F., Two 
Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 
King’s Road, North Point, Hong 
Kong (“Hong Kong Share Registrar”) 
not later than 4:00 p.m. on 17 
August 2018. In order to qualify 
for the proposed final dividend and 
final special dividend, all transfers of 
shares accompanied by the relevant 

We are pleased to announce the 
results of Sun Hing Vision Group 
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for 
the year ended 31 March 2018.

RESULTS

The global economy underwent 
rapid changes during the fiscal year 
under review. The volatile market 
demand of eyewear products and 
the rising operating costs adversely 
affected the Group’s performance. 
As a result, the Group recorded a 
drop in consolidated turnover by 
6.16% to HK$1,002 million (2017: 
HK$1,067 mil l ion) for the year 
ended 31 March 2018. Meanwhile, 
the profit attributable to owners of 
the Company decreased by 9.66% 
to HK$64 million (2017: HK$71 
million). Accordingly, basic earnings 
per share also decreased to HK24 
cents (2017: HK27 cents).

DIVIDENDS

The Directors have resolved to 
recommend at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting a final 
dividend of HK10.0 cents per share 
and a final special dividend of HK2.0 
cents per share for the year ended 
31 March 2018, to the shareholders 
whose names appear in the register 
of members of the Company at the 
close of business on 5 September 
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL 
RESOURCES

The Group continued to maintain 
a strong l iquidity and financial 
position. It recorded a net cash 
inflow of HK$157 mil l ion from 
operations during the year under 
review and did not have any bank 
borrowing as at 31 March 2018. The 
Group held cash and bank balance 
of HK$391 million as at 31 March 
2018, which decreased as compared 
to the balance of HK$427 million 
as at 31 March 2017. It was mainly 
because the Group acquired the Jill 
Stuart trademark for its branded 
eyewear  d is t r ibut ion bus iness 
as per announcement dated 29 
December 2017 and paid deposits 
for the acquisition of certain office 
premises located in Hong Kong (the 
“Property”) as per announcement 
dated 13 November 2017 during the 
fiscal year under review. In November 
2017, one of the Group’s subsidiary 
entered into a sale and purchase 
agreement with independent third 
parties to acquire the Property. 
According to the agreement, the 
Group is required to pay an amount 
of HK$108 million as the balance 
of consideration, after deducting 
two deposits already paid during 
the year under review, on or before 
31 May 2018 for the acquisition. 
The Group planned to finance such 
payment by internal resources and 
external borrowings. The Directors 
believe that the financial position of 
the Group is strong, and the Group 
has sufficient liquidity and financial 
resources to meet such payment 

THE BRANDED EYEWEAR 
DISTRIBUTION BUSINESS

Branded eyewear  d i s t r ibut ion 
business accounted for 18.76% of 
the Group’s consolidated turnover. 
The performance of the Group’s 
branded eyewear  d i s t r ibut ion 
business was relatively satisfactory. 
For the year ended 31 March 2018, 
the Group recorded a turnover of 
HK$188 mill ion (2017: HK$158 
mi l l i on )  f rom i t s  d i s t r i bu t ion 
business,  which represented a 
18.99% increase in comparison 
with that of last fiscal year. Such 
growth was a combined result 
of two factors. Firstly, the Group 
started to deliver eyewear products 
of its newly obtained licensed brand, 
agnes b., effective from the fourth 
quarter of 2016/2017 fiscal year. 
As the market response to agnes b. 
eyewear products was very positive, 
this helped to stimulate the Group’s 
turnover in Asian markets including 
Taiwan, Japan and Hong Kong. 
Secondly, the Group has expanded 
its distribution network in China 
by strengthening its alliance with 
the local strategic customers and 
exploring new selling platforms for 
eyewear products. This allowed the 
Group to capture a higher market 
share in China, which in turn drove 
the performance in that market. 
During the year under review, Asia 
continued to be the largest market 
of the Group. It accounted for 
96.24% of the Group’s distribution 
turnover. Within Asia, China and 
Japan were the top performing 
countries which contributed about 
51.31% and 17.07% respectively of 
the Group’s distribution turnover.

THE ODM BUSINESS

Original design manufacturing 
(“ODM”)  bus iness  accounted 
for 81.24% of the Group’s total 
consolidated turnover and continued 
to be the largest contributor of the 
Group’s revenue. For the year ended 
31 March 2018, the Group recorded 
a drop in ODM turnover by 10.45% 
to HK$814 million (2017: HK$909 
million). It was because the Group’s 
major customers were cautious in 
managing their own inventories 
and adopted a conservative buying 
attitude. As a result, the Group 
experienced slowdown of product 
demand for both of its two major 
markets, Europe and United States. 
For the year ended 31 March 2018, 
the Group’s ODM turnover to Europe 
decreased by 7.79% to HK$509 
million (2017: HK$552 million). 
Meanwhi le,  the Group’s  ODM 
turnover to United States decreased 
by 16.15% to HK$270 million (2017: 
HK$322 million). The above reflected 
customers’ pessimistic outlook for 
the market demand of eyewear 
products under uncertain political 
and economic climate. In terms of 
geographical allocation, Europe and 
United States accounted for 62.53% 
and 33.17% (2017: 60.73% and 
35.42%) of the Group’s  ODM 
turnover respectively. In terms of 
product mix, sales of plastic frames, 
metal frames and others accounted 
for 53%, 46% and 1% (2017: 53%, 
46% and 1%) of the Group’s ODM 
turnover respectively.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)

CHARGES ON GROUP’S 
ASSETS AND CONTINGENT 
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2018, other than 
those disclosed in the financial 
statements, there were no charges 
on the  Group’s  assets  or  any 
significant contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

Detai l s  of  the Group’s  capita l 
commitment are disclosed under 
the headings “Liquidity and Capital 
Resources” and set out in Note 
31 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR 
REDEMPTION OF THE 
COMPANY’S LISTED 
SECURITIES

During the year under review, 
neither the Company nor any of its 
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or 
redeemed any of the Company’s 
listed securities.

PROSPECTS

T h e  G r o u p  e x p e c t s  t h a t  t h e 
b u s i n e s s  e n v i r o n m e n t  w i l l 
continue to be tough and will be 
full of uncertainty in the years to 
come. On the one hand, trade 
protectionism is spreading among 
the world’s leading countries, which 
dramatically changes the global 

FOREIGN EXCHANGE 
EXPOSURE

Most of the Group’s transactions 
were conducted in the U.S. dollars, 
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. 
In addition, the majority of the 
Group’s assets were also kept in 
these currencies. Other than the 
potential exposure to the fluctuation 
of Renminbi, the Group’s exposure 
to currency fluctuation was relatively 
limited. The Group closely monitors 
the foreign exchange exposure and 
uses foreign exchange forward 
contracts and/or other appropriate 
tools to control the exposure in 
connection with Renminbi.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group had a workforce of 
over 5,500 people as at 31 March 
2018. The Group remunerates 
i t s  employees  based  on  the i r 
performance, years of service, 
work experience and the prevailing 
market situation. Bonuses and other 
incentive payments are granted 
on a discretionary basis based on 
individual performance, years of 
service and overall operating results 
of the Group. Other employee 
benefits include medical insurance 
scheme, mandatory provident fund 
scheme or other retirement benefit 
scheme, subsidised or free training 
programs and participation in the 
Company’s share option scheme.

obligation as well as other present 
commitments and future business 
plans.

As at 31 March 2018, the net current 
assets and current ratio of the 
Group were approximately HK$573 
million and 4.0:1 respectively. The 
equity attributable to owners of 
the Company increased to HK$938 
million as at 31 March 2018 from 
HK$932 million as at 31 March 
2017 after the payment of interim 
and interim special dividend for the 
fiscal year under review. The Group 
adopted a proactive approach to 
manage its inventory and receivables 
with an aim to optimize working 
capital. Accordingly, debtor turnover 
period and inventory turnover period 
were managed at 90 days and 55 
days respectively.

Given the Group’s strong cash 
position, after considering the capital 
commitment in connection with the 
Property, the Directors have resolved 
to declare a final special dividend 
of HK2.0 cents per share on the 
top of the final dividend of HK10.0 
cents per share for the year ended 
31 March 2018. The Directors will 
continue to monitor the dividend 
policy closely to ensure that an 
optimal balance can be achieved 
between the retention of sufficient 
liquidity in the Group to prepare 
for the development ahead and 
the distribution of earnings to the 
shareholders respectively.
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After the acquisition, the Group will 
carry out a series of plans to refresh 
the Jill Stuart brand for eyewear 
in the coming months and it is 
expected that the Jill Stuart eyewear 
and related products will become 
an important driving force for the 
Group’s future growth.

Looking forward, the Group believes 
that the business environment ahead 
will continue to be challenging. 
Leveraging our strategy with vision, 
carefully executed business plan and 
our core strength in the industry, we 
are confident that we can overcome 
such difficulties, and will create long 
term value for our shareholders 
as well as deliver the objective of 
achieving sustainable growth in long 
run.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, we would 
like to thank our customers for their 
support during the year. We would 
also like to express our sincere 
appreciation to our shareholders, 
staffs, suppliers and bankers for their 
efforts and commitments.

Ku Ngai Yung, Otis Ku Ka Yung

Chairman Deputy Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2018

to eliminate duplicate work flows 
and speed up its internal decision 
making processes. It will also deepen 
its integration into customers’ supply 
chains to enhance responsiveness.

Meanwhile, the Group will continue 
to implement a prudent budgetary 
control and reduce the Group’s costs 
by optimizing materials consumption 
and exploring alternative sourcing 
channels. We wil l continuously 
explore rooms for efficiency gains 
through its specialized project teams 
comprising members from various 
functions. The Group wil l  a lso 
continue to encourage continuous 
improvement and seek innovative 
ways for business that will help 
to enhance long-term operating 
efficiency.

For the branded eyewear distribution 
business, the Group will further 
expand its sales network, especially 
in Asian countries like China. New 
distribution platform and mechanism 
will be explored to increase the 
presence and penetration of the 
Group’s branded eyewear products. 
In the meantime, the Group will 
continue to strengthen its brand 
portfolio by seeking new licensing 
opportunities or obtaining brands 
with strong potential. In December 
2017, the Group acquired the 
trademark of Jill Stuart for eyewear 
and related products with an aim 
to exercise absolute and continuous 
con t ro l  o ve r  the  b rand .  Th i s 
acquisition allows the Group to 
develop a more long-term business 
strategy for the Jill Stuart brand. 

trading landscape. The United 
States recently proposed tariffs on 
certain products exported from 
China. Although eyewear products 
are not covered in the list, the 
Group is still worried that the trade 
confrontation between the United 
States and China will dampen the 
market sentiment as customers may 
be concerned about the risk of a full 
blown trade war. Meanwhile, the 
United Kingdom has initiated Brexit 
negotiations with the European 
Union, which will trigger bargain 
of bilateral trade terms among 
European countries. This imposes 
further uncertainty on the economy 
of Europe. On the other hand, the 
Group expects that operating costs 
in China, in particular wages, will 
continue to increase and that may 
negatively affect the Group’s profit 
margin.

To  cope wi th  the  ant i c ipated 
volatile product demand in the 
coming months, the Group will 
continue to maintain a flexible 
production capacity and intensify 
the standardization of production 
processes so that it will be easier 
to react to the rapidly changing 
business environment. The Group 
observes that the mode of i ts 
customers’ preference is changing, 
from cost orientation to larger 
emphasis on the element of speed. 
Customers are now looking for 
agile supply chains and require their 
sourcing partners to be able to timely 
deliver products in a short lead time. 
In response to this need, the Group 
will further streamline its operation 
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ku Ngai Yung, Otis, aged 51, is the chairman and managing Director of the Group. He is also a director of certain 
Group members. Mr. Ku holds a bachelor of arts degree majoring in administrative and commercial studies from the 
University of Western Ontario, Canada. He joined the Group in June 1988. He is responsible for the Group’s overall 
corporate policy making, strategic planning and business development. He is the brother of Mr. Ku Ka Yung.

Mr. Ku Ka Yung, aged 45, is the deputy chairman and chief financial officer of the Group. He is also a director of 
certain group members. Mr. Ku is responsible for the Group’s accounting and financial management. He holds a 
bachelor of commerce degree from the University of Toronto, Canada and a master of business administration degree 
from McGill University, Montreal, Canada. He is a certified public accountant in the US and joined the Group in 
August 1996. He was also an independent non-executive director of Shenzhen Forms Syntron Information Co., Ltd. 
until February 2018, which is a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Ku is the brother of Mr. Ku Ngai 
Yung, Otis.

Mr. Chan Chi Sun, aged 52, is the executive Director responsible for the general administration of the Group. He 
also holds directorships and other positions of other Group members. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor degree from 
the University of Western Ontario, Canada. He joined the Group in June 1994. He is responsible for the overall 
administration of the Group and has extensive experience in information technology.

Ms. Ma Sau Ching, aged 56, is the executive Director responsible for the marketing development of the Group. She 
also holds position of other Group member. Ms. Ma holds a master of business administration degree in strategic 
marketing from the University of Hull, United Kingdom, and a diploma in management studies from the Hong Kong 
Polytechnic University. She joined the Group in December 1997.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy, aged 47, has been an independent non-executive Director of the Group since 1 May 1999. 
He is a certified public accountant in Hong Kong and fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants, CPA Australia and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He is also the Divisional 
Deputy President 2018 – Greater China of CPA Australia, member of the Shanghai Pudong New Area Committee of 
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and founding executive vice president and council member of 
the Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director Association. Mr. Lo has over twenty five years of experience in 
auditing, accounting, risk management and finance. He is the managing partner of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited. 
He is also currently an independent non-executive director of China Oceanwide Holdings Limited, China Zhongwang 
Holdings Limited, Sheen Tai Holdings Group Company Limited, Xinming China Holdings Limited, China Tonghai 
International Financial Limited (formerly known as China Oceanwide International Financial Limited), Wan Kei Group 
Holdings Limited and G-Resources Group Limited and was an independent non-executive director of North Mining 
Shares Company Limited until 24 November 2015. The above companies are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).

Mr. Lee Kwong Yiu, aged 55, has over twenty years of experience in Hong Kong law as a qualified solicitor. He is 
now the principal of Philip K. Y. Lee & Co. Solicitors. He is also the Associate Member of the Chartered Institute 
of Arbitrators and is a China-Appointed Attesting Officer since 20 April 2006. Mr. Lee has been appointed as an 
independent non-executive Director since 1 May 2001. He was also an independent non-executive director of Tesson 
Holdings Limited until 6 October 2014, which is company listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy, aged 58, has over twenty six years of experience in the auditing and accounting profession. 
He is the sole proprietor of Eddy Wong & Co., Certified Public Accountants, and is also a fellow member of the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Wong has 
been appointed as an independent non-executive Director since 21 September 2004. He is currently an independent 
non-executive director of China All Access (Holdings) Limited, which is a company listed on the Stock Exchange.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate governance with a view to enhancing the 
management of the Company as well as to preserve the interests of the shareholders as a whole. The Board has 
adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and the Corporate 
Governance Report contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company has complied 
with all applicable code provisions in the CG Code which were effective during the period between 1 April 2017 to 
31 March 2018, except for the deviation from Code A.2.1, of the CG Code as described below in the “Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer” section.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in 
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities 
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard under the Model Code. Having made specific 
enquiry of all Directors, the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standard set out in the 
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2018.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

During the period between 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018, the Board comprises of four executive Directors, namely 
Mr. Ku Ngai Yung, Otis (Chairman), Mr. Ku Ka Yung (Deputy Chairman), Mr. Chan Chi Sun and Ms. Ma Sau Ching 
and three independent non-executive Directors (representing at least one-third of the Board), namely Mr. Lo Wa Kei, 
Roy, Mr. Lee Kwong Yiu and Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy.

Two of the independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate professional accounting qualifications and 
financial management expertise. All of the independent non-executive Directors have signed their respective 
confirmation letters to the Company confirming their independence as set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section of Directors and Senior Management on page 13. The 
Board possesses a balanced mix of skills and expertise which supports the continuing development of the Company.

The Board conducted 7 Board meetings, all of such meetings were regular Board meetings in compliance with Code 
A.1.1 of the CG Code, for the year ended 31 March 2018. The attendance of each Director is set out as follows:

Directors Attendance Record   

Mr. Ku Ngai Yung, Otis (Chairman) 7/7

Mr. Ku Ka Yung (Deputy Chairman) 7/7

Mr. Chan Chi Sun 7/7

Ms. Ma Sau Ching 5/7

Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy 7/7

Mr. Lee Kwong Yiu 7/7

Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy 7/7
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Board is charged with responsibility of setting corporate policy and overall strategy for the Group and providing 
effective oversight of the management of the Group’s business affairs. The Board also monitors the financial 
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business operation and reviews the Company’s compliance with 
applicable laws and regulation. The implementation of strategy, management of daily operations and administration 
of the Group’s affairs are delegated to the management team.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance function of the Company in accordance with 
written terms of reference that are consistent with the duties as set out in Code D.3.1 of the CG Code. During the 
year ended 31 March 2018, the Board has performed the duties and reviewed the corporate governance report and 
monitored the Company’s compliance with the CG Code. The Board has also reviewed the Company’s policies and 
practice on corporate governance.

Mr. Ku Ngai Yung, Otis is the brother of Mr. Ku Ka Yung.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code A.2.1 of the CG Code provides, inter alia, that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate 
and should not be performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief 
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.

The Company does not officially have a position of Chief Executive Officer. However, Mr. Ku Ngai Yung, Otis has been 
assuming the roles of both the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. In this regard, the Company 
has deviated from Code A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board intends to maintain this structure in the future as it believes 
that it would provide the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allow the Group’s business operations, 
planning and decision making as well as execution of long-term business strategies to be carried out more effectively 
and efficiently. Nonetheless, the Board would review and monitor the situation on a regular basis and would ensure 
that the present structure would not impair the balance of power in the Company.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

According to Bye-law 87(1) of the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”), at each annual general meeting of 
the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number 
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation no later than the third annual general 
meeting after he was last elected or re-elected. Also, according to Bye-law 90 of the Bye-laws, a Director appointed to 
an office as managing director, joint managing director or deputy managing director shall also be subject to rotation, 
resignation and removal as the other directors of the Company.

Ms. Ma Sau Ching, an executive Director, and Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy and Mr. Lee Kwong Yiu, both independent 
non-executive Directors were re-elected as Directors at the 2017 annual general meeting for a term of no more than 
three years and subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Bye-laws.

Mr. Ku Ngai Yung, Otis and Mr. Chan Chi Sun, both executive Directors, and Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy, an independent 
non-executive Directors, will retire at the forthcoming 2018 annual general meeting and will offer themselves for 
reelection. Their proposed term of office shall not be more than three years and is subject to retirement by rotation in 
accordance with the Bye-laws.
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CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Under Code A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors should participate in continuous professional development to 
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed 
and relevant. The Company should be responsible for arranging and funding, placing an appropriate emphasis on 
the roles, functions and duties of the Directors. During the year ended 31 March 2018, all Directors (other than 
Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy) attended a seminar on directors’ legal responsibilities, model code for securities transactions, 
amendment to the Companies Ordinance, competition law, continuing obligations of listed issuer under the Listing 
Rules and Companies Ordinance and disclosure of interests under the Securities and Futures Ordinance organized by 
the Company and conducted by the Company’s legal advisor, Messrs. King & Wood Mallesons. All Directors were also 
provided by the Company with materials designed for refreshing knowledge on Listing Rules and other relevant laws 
and regulations. According to the records maintained by the Company, Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy, Mr. Lee Kwong Yiu and 
Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy participated in courses, seminars and other continuous professional development programs 
required for their professional practices. Details of the professional qualifications of each Director are set out in the 
section of Directors and Senior Management on page 13.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lee Kar Lun, Clarence was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on 26 October 2012. He is a full 
time employee of the Group and possesses the professional qualifications as required under rule 3.28 of the Listing 
Rules. Mr. Lee Kar Lun, Clarence confirmed that he has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional 
training during the year ended 31 March 2018 in accordance with rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) was established by the Company with written terms of 
reference and currently comprises Mr. Lee Kwong Yiu (Chairman), Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy and Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy, 
all of whom are independent non-executive Directors, as well as the human resources manager of the Group. The 
duties of the Remuneration Committee include, inter alia, making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s 
policy and structure for all Directors and senior management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and 
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting for the year ended 31 March 2018. The attendance of each 
remuneration committee member is set out as follows:

Remuneration Committee Members Attendance Record   

Mr. Lee Kwong Yiu (Chairman) 1/1

Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy 1/1

Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy 1/1

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed and made recommendations to the 
Board on the remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior management and the overall remuneration 
policy of the Group and assessed performance of the Directors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

An audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) has been established by the Company with written terms of reference 
to act in an advisory capacity and to make recommendations to the Board. The members of the Audit Committee 
comprise the three independent non-executive Directors, who are Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy (Chairman), Mr. Lee Kwong Yiu 
and Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy. Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy and Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy are both qualified certified public 
accountants and possess the qualifications as required under rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. None of the members of 
the Audit Committee is a member of the former or existing auditors of the Group. The Audit Committee has adopted 
the principles set out in the CG Code. The duties of the Audit Committee include review of the interim and annual 
reports of the Group, effectiveness of internal audit function as well as various auditing, financial reporting, risk 
management and internal control matters with the management and/or external auditor of the Company.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings. Attendance of each audit committee 
member is set out as follows:

Audit Committee Members Attendance Record   

Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy (Chairman) 2/2

Mr. Lee Kwong Yiu 2/2

Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy 2/2

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Audit Committee has performed the above duties, including making 
recommendations to the Board regarding risk management and internal control matters, and reviewing the interim 
and annual reports of the Group. The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and audited by the Company’s external auditor, Messrs. Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year under review, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditor, Messrs. Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu is set out as follows:

Type of Services Fees paid/payable   

Audit services HK$1,158,000

Non-audit services

Interim results review HK$200,000

Tax compliance and advisory services HK$150,000

Internal control review HK$65,000
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) was established by the Company with written terms of 
reference. The Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy (Chairman), Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy and Mr. 
Lee Kwong Yiu, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors, as well as the human resources manager of the 
Group. The duties of the Nomination Committee include, inter alia, the review of the structure, size and composition 
of the Board and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s 
corporate strategy. Moreover, in performing the duties, the Nomination Committee shall ensure that the Board 
has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to the requirements of the 
Company’s business. Selection of the candidates to the Board shall be based on the Company’s business model and 
specific needs with reference to a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, language, 
cultural and education backgrounds, industry and professional experience.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting. Attendance of each nomination 
committee member is set out as follows:

Nomination Committee Members Attendance Record   

Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy (Chairman) 1/1

Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy 1/1

Mr. Lee Kwong Yiu 1/1

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Nomination Committee has monitored and reviewed the nomination 
procedures and process for the nomination of Directors, reviewed the composition of the Board and made 
recommendation to the Board on matters related to election and retirement of the Directors. With the existing Board 
members coming from a variety of business and professional background, the Nomination Committee considers that 
the Board possesses a balance of skills, experience and diversity appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s 
business.

ACCOUNTABILITY, INSIDE INFORMATION, RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 
CONTROL

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 
2018 which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and the results and cash 
flows of the Group. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018, the Directors have 
adopted suitable accounting policies which are pertinent to the Group’s operation and relevant to the financial 
statements, have made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and have prepared the financial 
statements on a going concern basis.

The Directors’ responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements, and the responsibilities of the auditor to 
the shareholders, are set out in the auditor’s report on pages 33 to 34.
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The Group has established policy and procedure for handling and dissemination of insider information. The policy 
requires sensitive information (if any) to be protected with high level of care and the persons receiving potential 
sensitive information are required to comply with the applicable laws, regulations and rules in respect of insider 
information. The Group follows the requirements of the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance 
when disclosing information to public. Inside information (if any) will be disseminated timely in a way which aims at 
preventing any person be placed in a privileged dealing position, letting the market be appropriately informed for the 
latest information, and allowing investors to have reasonable time to respond to such information.

It is the responsibility of the Board to ensure that the Group maintains sound and effective risk management and 
internal control system. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or 
loss.

The Group’s risk management system is established under a structured framework with clearly defined objective. A 
top-down approach and methodology is adopted to identify risk, assess and prioritize risk, develop risk response, 
monitor risk and report risk. The Group has set up appropriate governance body to enforce the risk management 
system. Risks are identified through periodic assessment performed by different departments of the Group following 
the preset program. Identified risks are then summarized, prioritized according to the risk assessment criteria as set 
out in the Group’s risk policy documented in report, and communicated within the Group to ensure that risk owners 
and action plans are properly assigned to the identified risks.

The Group’s internal control system includes a well-defined management structure with limits of authority, 
comprehensive policies and standards. It is designed to help the achievement of business objectives, safeguard 
assets against unauthorized use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records, and ensure 
compliance with relevant legislation and regulations. The Group has a specified team which is responsible for the 
internal audit function. Its duties include ongoing monitoring of the Group’s internal control system and exploring 
enhancement of the Group’s operating efficiency.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Board has conducted annual review to assess the effectiveness of the Group’s 
risk management and internal control system through the following:

– reviewing the policy of the Group’s risk management system;

– reviewing the risk reports prepared by the Group and evaluating the risk inventory list and the related action plan 
assigned for the identified risks;

– assessing the programs and findings of the team and governance body who are in charge of risk management 
system and internal audit function;

– conducting regular management meetings to discuss and handle the identified risks and internal control issues;

– reviewing the findings made by the auditor in respect of issues encountered during the processes of annual audit 
and interim review; and

– engaging a specialized division of Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu to assess the internal controls in respect of 
certain key business operations of the Group.
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Based on the results of the assessment, no major issue has been identified that indicates significant inadequacy and 
ineffectiveness on the Group’s risk management and internal control system. Appropriate actions are being taken to 
address the areas for improvement identified.

GENERAL MEETING

For the year ended 31 March 2018, there was one general meeting (the annual general meeting). The attendance of 
each Director is set out as follows:

Directors Attendance Record   

Mr. Ku Ngai Yung, Otis (Chairman) 1/1

Mr. Ku Ka Yung (Deputy Chairman) 1/1

Mr. Chan Chi Sun 1/1

Ms. Ma Sau Ching 1/1

Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy 1/1

Mr. Lee Kwong Yiu 1/1

Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy 1/1

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

A shareholders communication policy was established in February 2012 (the “Shareholders Communication Policy”). 
In line with the Shareholders Communication Policy, information will be communicated to shareholders and the 
investment community mainly through the Company’s financial reports (interim and annual reports), annual general 
meetings and other general meetings that may be convened, as well as by making available all the published 
disclosure submitted to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and its other corporate 
communications. Shareholders and the investment community may at any time obtain the latest published financial 
reports of the Company through the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board will maintain an 
on-going dialogue with the shareholders and the investment community, and will regularly review the Shareholders 
Communication Policy to ensure its effectiveness.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES BY WHICH SHAREHOLDERS CAN CONVENE A SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING

Shareholders of the Company are required to observe and fully comply with all applicable regulations and laws of 
Bermuda and the By-laws in convening a special general meeting. Pursuant to the Bye-laws, shareholders holding 
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the 
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the 
Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for 
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after 
the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such 
meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with the relevant provisions set out in the Companies 
Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Act”).
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PROCEDURES BY WHICH ENQUIRIES MAY BE PUT TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their direct enquiries to the Board in writing by mail through the company secretary of the 
Company to the Company’s registered office in Bermuda at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM11, 
Bermuda (“Registered Office”) and the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at 1001C, 10th Floor, 
Sunbeam Centre, 27 Shing Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong (“Hong Kong Principal Office”).

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

Shareholders of the Company are required to observe and fully comply with all applicable regulations and laws 
of Bermuda and the Bye-laws in putting forward proposals at general meetings. In addition, shareholders of the 
Company are also required to comply with the following requirements unless they are contradicting to the laws and 
regulations of Bermuda. In case of contradiction, the regulations and laws of Bermuda shall prevail.

To put forward a proposal at a shareholders’ meeting, shareholders are requested to submit a written request stating 
the resolution intended to be moved at the general meeting; or a statement with respect to the matter referred to 
in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at a particular general meeting. The written request/
statements must be signed by the shareholder(s) concerned and deposited at the Company’s Registered Office and 
its Hong Kong Principal Office, for the attention of the company secretary of the Company. Proposals put forward at 
shareholders’ meeting will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the results will be posted on the websites 
of the Stock Exchange and the Company after the relevant general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

There has been no significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended 
31 March 2018.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors of Sun Hing Vision Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) present their annual report and the 
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 
March 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in 
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income on page 35.

An interim dividend of HK4.5 cents per share of the Company amounting to approximately HK$11,825,000 and 
an interim special dividend of HK1.5 cents per share amounting to approximately HK$3,942,000 were paid to the 
shareholders of the Company during the year. The Directors now recommend a final dividend of HK10.0 cents per 
share amounting to approximately HK$26,278,000 and a final special dividend of HK2.0 cents per share amounting to 
approximately HK$5,256,000 to the shareholders of the Company whose names appear on the register of members 
at the close of business on 5 September 2018.

REVIEW OF THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

A review of the Group’s business and the related analysis of the Group’s key performance indicators (including 
gross profit ratio, net profit ratio, current ratio, debtor turnover period and inventory turnover period) are set out in 
the paragraph headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of the “Letter to Shareholders” section on page 9. 
Indication of likely future development of the Group and the important events (if any) occurred since the end of the 
financial year are set out in the paragraph headed “Prospects” of the same section on page 11 and in note 36 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s operation and financial position may be affected by certain risks and uncertainties. Principal risks 
identified by the Group include market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Details of those risks are set out in note 28 
to the consolidated financial statements. Details of uncertainties associated with accounting estimation are set out in 
note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group and its business activities are subject to various laws and regulations, including Bermuda Companies Act 
1981, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Rules Governing the Listing 
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Group recognises the importance of regulatory 
compliance and has measures in place to ensure that the Group’s operation complies with relevant laws and 
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is dedicated to promote sustainable development in environment and has established policies that 
cover aspects including reduction of waste and energy consumption. It periodically monitors performance related 
to environmental policies. Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance are set out in the 
Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be published seperately.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment at a cost of approximately HK$52,652,000 to 
maintain the existing plants and upgrade production facilities. Details of these and other movements in property, 
plant and equipment and investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in note 13 and 15 to the 
consolidated financial statements respectively.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Directors are of the view that employees, suppliers and customers are important for the Group’s development. 
The Group is dedicated to establish and has maintained long-term relationships with the above mentioned 
stakeholders.

The Group’s relationship with its employees is based on the principal of trust and respect. It provides its employees 
with competitive remunerations package with reference to the prevailing market situation. A further discussion of 
the Group’s human resources management is set out in the paragraph headed “Human Resources” of the “Letter to 
Shareholders” section on page 11.

The Group develops strategic relationship with its suppliers and customers and works together with them to achieve 
synergy. Further details of the Group’s major customers and suppliers are disclosed under heading “Major Customers 
and Suppliers” below.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers comprised approximately 
73.94% of the Group’s total sales and the sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer were approximately 
29.54% of the Group’s total sales.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers during the year were less than 30% of the 
Group’s total purchases.

At no time during the year did a Director, an associate of a director or a shareholder of the Company (which to the 
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has an interest in any of the 
Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated 
financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2018, the Company’s reserves available for distribution comprising retained profits of HK$82,348,000 
(2017: HK$132,119,000).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Ku Ngai Yung, Otis (Chairman)
Ku Ka Yung (Deputy Chairman)
Chan Chi Sun
Ma Sau Ching

Independent non-executive Directors:
Lo Wa Kei, Roy
Lee Kwong Yiu
Wong Che Man, Eddy

In accordance with Bye-Laws 87(1) and 90 of the Company’s bye-laws, Mr. Ku Ngai Yung, Otis, Mr. Chan Chi Sun 
and Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for 
re-election. All other remaining Directors continue in office.

The term of office of each executive and independent non-executive Director is not more than three years and subject 
to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s bye-laws.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company. Each of Mr. Ku Ngai Yung 
and Otis, Mr. Ku Ka Yung has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term of two years 
commencing on 1 May 1999 and continuing thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ prior written 
notice served by either party.

Each of Mr. Chan Chi Sun and Ms. Ma Sau Ching has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an 
initial term of two years commencing on 14 December 2001 and continuing thereafter until terminated by not less 
than three months’ prior written notice served by either party.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy, Mr. Lee Kwong Yiu and Mr. Wong 
Che Man, Eddy, has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years. The term 
of Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy commenced from 20 September 2004 and continuing thereafter until terminated by not less 
than three months’ prior written notice served by either party. The term of Mr. Lee Kwong Yiu commenced from 4 
September 2003 for a term of three years and continuing thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ 
prior written notice served by either party. The term of Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy commenced from 21 September 
2004 for a term of three years and continuing thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ prior written 
notice served by either party.



24 / 25Annual Report 2017/18

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract 
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment 
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of 
the Company and the Group were entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES 
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2018, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company, and 
their associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within 
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register maintained by 
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of 
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

1. SHARES IN THE COMPANY (LONG POSITIONS)

Number of ordinary shares held

Percentage of
issued share

capital of
the Company

 
Name of Directors Personal interest Other interest Total     

Ku Ngai Yung, Otis – 144,833,828
(Note i)

144,833,828 55.12%

Ku Ka Yung – 144,833,828
(Note i)

144,833,828 55.12%

Chan Chi Sun 1,526,000 – 1,526,000 0.58%

Ma Sau Ching 350,000 – 350,000 0.13%

Note:

(i) 144,833,828 ordinary shares of the Company were held by United Vision International Limited, which is ultimately and 
wholly-owned by The Vision Trust, a discretionary trust settled by Mr. Ku Ngai Yung, Otis and Mr. Ku Ka Yung, the 
discretionary objects of which include Mr. Ku Ngai Yung, Otis and his spouse, Mr. Ku Ka Yung and his spouse, and their 
respective children who are under the age 18.
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2. UNDERLYING SHARES IN THE COMPANY (SHARE OPTIONS)

Details of the share options held by the Directors and chief executives of the Company are shown in the section 
under the heading “Share Options”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, none of the Directors, chief executives, nor their associates, had 
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its 
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register maintained by the 
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTIONS

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 6 September 2004, the Company’s share option scheme adopted on 4 May 1999 
(the “Old Share Option Scheme”) was terminated and a share option scheme (the “2004 Share Option Scheme”) was 
adopted in order to comply with the amendments to Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) in relation to share option schemes.

Pursuant to another resolution passed on 22 August 2014, the 2004 Share Option Scheme was terminated and 
another share option scheme (the “2014 Share Option Scheme”) was adopted.

During the year ended 31 March 2018 and as at the date of this report, there was no share in respect of which share 
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the Old Share Option Scheme and the 2004 Share Option 
Scheme. No further share options can be granted upon termination of the Old Share Option Scheme and the 2004 
Share Option Scheme.

Under the 2014 Share Option Scheme, the maximum number of shares available for issue is 10% of the issued 
share capital of the Company. No share options have been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the 2014 
Share Option Scheme since its adoption. Unless approved by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting 
in the manner prescribed in the Listing Rules, the board of directors shall not grant share options to any grantee if 
the acceptance of those share options would result in the total number of the shares issued and to be issued upon 
exercise of the share options granted including those granted (whether or not cancelled) under the 2014 Share 
Option Scheme and to be granted to such grantee (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) in 
any 12-month period exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share options disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its holding 
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company to 
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its holding companies, 
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest, whether 
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 
AND OTHER PERSONS UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 March 2018, the following parties (other than those disclosed under the headings “Directors’ and Chief 
Executives’ Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” and “Share Options” above) were recorded in the 
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO as being directly or indirectly interested in 
5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company which is so far as known to any Director or chief executive of 
the Company:

Name
Number of

ordinary shares held

Percentage of the
issued share capital

of the Company     

Substantial Shareholders

United Vision International Limited (Note i) 144,833,828 55.12%

Marshvale Investments Limited (Note i) 144,833,828 55.12%

HSBC International Trustee Limited (Notes i & ii) 144,833,828 55.12%

Ku Ling Wah, Phyllis (Notes i, ii & iii) 144,833,828 55.12%

Other persons

FMR LLC (Note iv) 26,277,000 9.99%

Webb David Michael (Notes v & vi) 26,328,000 10.02%

Fidelity Puritan Trust (Note vii) 20,999,000 7.99%

Preferable Situation Assets Limited (Note vi) 18,346,000 6.98%

Notes:

(i) As at 31 March 2018, United Vision International Limited (“UVI”) is wholly-owned by Marshvale Investments Limited 
(“Marshvale”). By virtue of UVI’s interests in the Company, Marshvale is deemed to be interested in 144,833,828 shares of 
the Company under the SFO. Marshvale is wholly-owned by HSBC International Trustee Limited (“HSBC Trustee”). By virtue 
of Marshvale’s indirect interests in the Company, HSBC Trustee is deemed to be interested in 144,833,828 shares of the 
Company under the SFO. Mr. Ku Ngai Yung, Otis and Mr. Ku Ka Yung are directors of UVI.

(ii) HSBC Trustee is the trustee of The Vision Trust, the discretionary trust settled by Mr. Ku Ngai Yung, Otis and Mr. Ku Ka Yung 
mentioned above. 144,833,828 shares of the Company were held indirectly by HSBC Trustee through UVI as mentioned in 
note (i) above.

(iii) Ms. Ku Ling Wah, Phyllis (sister of Mr. Ku Ngai Yung, Otis and Mr. Ku Ka Yung) is one of the discretionary objects of The Vision 
Trust, the discretionary trust settled by Mr. Ku Ngai Yung, Otis and Mr. Ku Ka Yung mentioned above. As at 31 March 2018, 
The Vision Trust ultimately and wholly owned UVI, which held 144,833,828 shares of the Company.
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(iv) According to a corporate substantial shareholder notice filed by FMR LLC on 3 March 2017 (with the date of the relevant 
event as set out in the corporate substantial shareholder notice being 27 February 2017), FMR LLC held 26,277,000 shares of 
the Company indirectly through FMR Co., Inc.. FMR Co., Inc. is wholly owned by Fidelity Management & Research Company, 
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR LLC. Of the above mentioned 26,277,000 shares of the Company held by FMR 
Co., Inc., 2,642,000 shares of the Company were held for Fidelity Management Trust Company, which is wholly-owned by 
FMR LLC, while 2,338,000 shares of the Company were held for Fidelity Investments Canada ULC, which is ultimately owned 
by certain employees and shareholders of FMR LLC. Those employees and shareholders of FMR LLC own 100% equity interest 
in Fidelity Canada Investors LLC, which owns 64% equity interest in 483A Bay Street Holdings LP. 483A Bay Street Holdings LP 
owns 100% equity interest in BlueJay Lux 1 S.a.r.l., which owns 100% equity interest in FIC Holdings ULC, which in turn owns 
100% equity interest in Fidelity Investments Canada ULC.

(v) According to an individual substantial shareholder notice filed by David Michael Webb on 19 July 2017, as at 14 July 2017 
(i.e. the date of the relevant event as set out in the individual substantial shareholder notice filed on 19 July 2017), of the 
26,328,000 shares of the Company held by David Michael Webb, 8,294,000 shares of the Company were held directly by him, 
while 18,034,000 shares of the Company were held through his wholly owned company, Preferable Situation Assets Limited. 
By virtue of Preferable Situation Assets Limited’s interest in the Company, David Michael Webb is deemed to be interested in 
the same 18,034,000 shares of the Company held by Preferable Situation Assets Limited under the SFO. (Please also see note 
vi below).

(vi) According to a corporate substantial shareholder notice filed by Preferable Situation Assets Limited on 18 October 2016, as 
at 13 October 2016 (i.e. the date of the relevant event as set out in the corporate substantial shareholder notice filed on 18 
October 2016), Preferable Situation Assets Limited, which is wholly owned by David Michael Webb, held 18,346,000 shares of 
the Company. By virtue of Preferable Situation Assets Limited’s interest in the Company, David Michael Webb is deemed to be 
interested in the same 18,346,000 shares of the Company held by Preferable Situation Assets Limited under the SFO.

(vii) According to a corporate substantial shareholder notice filed by Fidelity Puritan Trust on 4 January 2018, as at 29 December 
2017 (i.e. the date of the relevant event as set out in the corporate substantial shareholder notice filed on 4 January 2018), 
20,999,000 shares of the Company were held directly by Fidelity Puritan Trust.

All the interests stated above represent long position. Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, no other person 
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the 
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO or was otherwise a substantial shareholder of the Company.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-executive 
Directors are independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the remuneration committee of the Company (the 
“Remuneration Committee”), on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the 
Company’s operating results, individual performance and/or comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted share option schemes as an incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the 
schemes are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would 
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31 March 2018.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 
Company’s listed securities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Other than the information disclosed in this directors’ report and the consolidated financial statements, no equity 
linked agreements were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of the financial year 
under review

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Bye-law 166(1) of the Bye-Laws of the Company, the Directors of the Company shall be indemnified and 
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, 
damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or 
omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors of the Company 
throughout the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The corporate governance report is set out on pages 14 to 21.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Messrs. 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Ku Ngai Yung, Otis
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF SUN HING VISION GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
新興光學集團控股有限公司
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sun Hing Vision Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 35 to 86, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 31 March 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter  

Valuation of Trade Receivables

We identified the valuation of trade receivables as a key 
audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the 
consolidated statement of financial position as a whole, 
estimation uncertainty and the management judgment 
involved in the valuation.

As disclosed in notes 4 and 21 to the consolidated 
financial statements, the trade receivables carried at 
HK$245,905,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of 
HK$4,279,000 as at 31 March 2018), which represents 
approximately 21.80% of the Group’s total assets. 
Impairment loss of HK$1,123,000 and HK$4,000,000 
was recognised and reversed, respectively, in profit or 
loss during the year ended 31 March 2018.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the management considers the historical 
settlement records, subsequent settlement, business 
relationship and aging analysis of trade receivables in 
determining the allowance for doubtful debts.

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of trade 
receivables included:

• Obtaining an understanding of how allowance for 
trade receivables is estimated by the management;

• Understanding and testing the key controls relating 
to the preparation of aging analysis of trade 
receivables;

• Test ing the accuracy of aging of the trade 
receivables to the invoices and goods delivery notes 
on a sample basis;

• Checking subsequent settlement of the trade 
receivables to the supporting documents, on a 
sample basis; and

• Evaluating the reasonableness of allowance of trade 
receivables estimated by management.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter  

Valuation of Inventories

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit 
matter due to the significance of the balances to the 
consolidated statement of financial position as a whole, 
estimation uncertainty and the management judgment 
involved in the valuation.

As disclosed in notes 4 and 20 to the consolidated 
f inancial  statements, the inventories carr ied at 
HK$114,561,000 (net of allowance of HK$105,025,000), 
which represents approximately 10.16% of the 
Group’s total assets. Allowance of HK$14,282,000 was 
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 
March 2018.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the management identifies aged inventories 
with reference to aging analysis and determines the 
net realisable value of inventories by considering the 
saleability of inventories based on current market 
demand and future sales plan.

Our procedures in relation to valuation of inventories 
included:

• Obtaining an understanding of how allowance for 
inventories is estimated by the management;

• Understanding and testing the key controls relating 
to the preparation of aging analysis of inventories;

• Testing the accuracy of the aging analysis to the 
inventories supporting documents, on a sample 
basis;

• Tracing a selection of inventories with subsequent 
sales to the sales invoices;

• Tracing a selection of raw materials and work in 
progress with subsequent consumption to the 
inventories consumption report;

• Discuss with the management and evaluating the 
basis of aged inventories identified by management 
based on the aging analysis, current market 
demand and future sales plan; and

• Evaluating the reasonableness of allowance of 
inventories estimated by the management.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no 
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of 
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Chiu Mei Hing.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
29 June 2018
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2018 2017
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000    

Revenue 5 1,001,644 1,067,448
Cost of sales (755,939) (799,602)    

Gross profit 245,705 267,846
Other income, gains and losses 6 9,411 (6,089)
Selling and distribution costs (35,068) (34,710)
Administrative expenses (145,076) (140,359)
Share of loss of a joint venture 17 (264) –    

Profit before tax 74,708 86,688
Income tax expense 7 (10,435) (16,145)    

Profit for the year 8 64,273 70,543    

Other comprehensive income (expense)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange difference arising on translation of foreign operations 7,186 (2,921)
Share of other comprehensive expense of a joint venture (16) –    

Total comprehensive income for the year 71,443 67,622    

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 64,055 70,903
Non-controlling interests 218 (360)    

64,273 70,543    

Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 71,138 68,051
Non-controlling interests 305 (429)    

71,443 67,622    

Earnings per share 12
Basic HK24 cents HK27 cents    
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 March 2018

2018 2017
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 13 273,207 269,182
Prepaid lease payments 14 3,041 3,132
Investment properties 15 7,401 6,898
Intangible assets 16 55,220 –
Interest in a joint venture 17 189 –
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 3,391 1,935
Deposit and other payments paid for acquisition of  

investment properties 18 22,254 –
Deferred tax assets 19 687 1,245    

365,390 282,392    

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 20 114,561 111,465
Trade and other receivables 21 255,565 289,322
Prepaid lease payments 14 91 91
Derivative financial instruments 22 566 4
Tax recoverable 242 11
Bank balances and cash 23 391,383 426,916    

762,408 827,809    

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 24 186,282 168,305
Tax payable 2,951 9,072    

189,233 177,377    

NET CURRENT ASSETS 573,175 650,432    

938,565 932,824    
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2018 2017
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000    

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 25 26,278 26,278
Share premium and reserves 911,539 906,096    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 937,817 932,374
Non-controlling interests 79 (226)    

937,896 932,148

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY

Deferred tax liabilities 19 669 676    

938,565 932,824    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 35 to 86 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 

Directors on 29 June 2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

Ku Ngai Yung, Otis Ku Ka Yung

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 March 2018

Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Special 
reserve

Translation 
reserve

Retained 
profits Total

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note)         

At 1 April 2016 26,278 78,945 18,644 (1,932) 802,827 924,762 203 924,965
Profit (loss) for the year – – – – 70,903 70,903 (360) 70,543
Exchange difference arising 

on translation of foreign 
operations – – – (2,852) – (2,852) (69) (2,921)         

Total comprehensive (expense) 
income for the year – – – (2,852) 70,903 68,051 (429) 67,622         

Dividends recognised as 
distribution (note 11) – – – – (60,439) (60,439) – (60,439)         

At 31 March 2017 26,278 78,945 18,644 (4,784) 813,291 932,374 (226) 932,148         

Profit for the year – – – – 64,055 64,055 218 64,273
Exchange difference arising 

on translation of foreign 
operations – – – 7,099 – 7,099 87 7,186

Share of other comprehensive 
expense of a joint venture – – – (16) – (16) – (16)         

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – 7,083 64,055 71,138 305 71,443         

Dividends recognised as 
distribution (note 11) – – – – (65,695) (65,695) – (65,695)         

At 31 March 2018 26,278 78,945 18,644 2,299 811,651 937,817 79 937,896         

Note: Special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the aggregate amount of the nominal value of shares, the 
share premium and the reserves of subsidiaries acquired and the nominal amount of the shares issued by the Company 
pursuant to a group reorganisation.
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2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 74,708 86,688
Adjustments for:

Allowance for inventories 14,282 17,499
Bank interest income (3,194) (2,190)
Share of loss of a joint venture 264 –
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 49,477 51,175
Depreciation of investment properties 151 71
Amortisation of intangible assets 464 –
Fair value changes on derivative financial instruments (562) 190
(Gain) loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment (356) 255
Impairment losses recognised on trade receivables 1,123 4,240
Impairment losses reversed on trade receivables (4,000) –
Bad debts directly written off – 159
Release of prepaid lease payments 91 91    

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 132,448 158,178

(Increase) decrease in inventories (15,238) 2,927

Decrease in trade and other receivables 38,870 37,519

Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables 17,407 (21,035)    

Cash generated from operations 173,487 177,589
Income tax paid (16,177) (17,501)    

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 157,310 160,088    

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of intangible assets (55,684) –
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (50,429) (33,129)
Deposit and other payments paid for acquisition of investment properties (22,254) –
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (3,679) (1,878)
Acquisition of interest in a joint venture (469) –
Interest received 3,194 2,190
Proceeds on disposals of property, plant and equipment 975 87    

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (128,346) (32,730)    
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

CASH USED IN A FINANCING ACTIVITY
Dividends paid (65,695) (60,439)    

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (36,731) 66,919

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 426,916 360,585

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 1,198 (588)    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR,  
represented by bank balances and cash 391,383 426,916    
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1. GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability under The Companies 
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Stock Exchange”). Its parent and ultimate holding company is United Vision International Limited, a company 
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”). The addresses of the registered office and principal place of 
business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate information section of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and 
joint venture are set out in notes 35 and 17 respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional 
currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE CURRENT YEAR

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
Amendments to HKFRS 12 As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014 – 2016 Cycle

Other than described below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no 
material impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the 
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

AMENDMENTS TO HKAS 7 “DISCLOSURE INITIATIVE”

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments require 
an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of consolidated financial statements to evaluate changes 
in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. In addition, the 
amendments also require disclosures on changes in financial assets if cash flows from those financial assets were, 
or future cash flows will be included in cash flows from financing activities.

Specially, the amendments require the following to be disclosed: (i) changes from financing cash flows; (ii) 
changes arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other business; (iii) the effect of changes in 
foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes in fair values; and (v) other changes.

A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of these items is provided in note 29. Consistent with 
the transition provisions of the amendments, the Group has not disclosed comparative information for the prior 
year. Apart from the additional disclosure in note 29, the application of these amendments has had no impact 
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET 
EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations that have 
been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the related Amendments1

HKFRS 16 Leases2

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts4

HK(IFRIC) – Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration1

HK(IFRIC) – Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments2

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions1

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation2

Amendments to HKFRS 10  
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture3

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement2

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures2

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014–2016 Cycle1

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property1

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2015–2017 Cycle2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

HKFRS 9 “FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS”

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets, financial 
liabilities, general hedge accounting and impairment requirements for financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which is relevant to the Group is in relation to the impairment of financial assets, 
HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39 
“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to 
account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect 
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have 
occurred before credit losses are recognised.

In general, the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the expected credit loss model 
of HKFRS 9 will result in early provision of credit losses which are not yet incurred in relation to the Group’s 
financial assets measured at amortised costs and the respective items that subject to impairment provisions upon 
application of HKFRS 9 by the Group.

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company, if the expected credit loss model were to be applied 
by the Group, there would be no material impact on the accumulated amount of impairment loss to be 
recognised by the Group as at 1 April 2018 as compared to the accumulated amount recognised under HKAS 39 
mainly attributable to expected credit losses provision on trade and other receivables.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 15 “REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS”

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for 
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition 
guidance including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts and the related interpretations” 
when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach to 
revenue recognition:

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 
control of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. 
Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, 
extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15 in relation to the identification of performance 
obligations, principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more 
disclosures. The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 will have a material 
impact on the timing and amounts of revenue recognised in the respective reporting periods.

HKFRS 16 “LEASES”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and accounting 
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the related 
interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a 
customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced 
by a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, 
except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 “LEASES” (CONTINUED)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain 
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease 
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of 
lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront 
prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those classified 
as investment properties while other operating lease payments are presented as operating cash flows. Upon 
application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an 
interest portion which will be presented as financing cash flows by the Group.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the 
Group is a lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential changes in classification of these assets 
depending on whether the Group presents right-of-use assets separately or within the same line item at which 
the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in 
HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of approximately 
HK$50,083,000 as disclosed in note 30. A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet 
the definition of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a 
corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental deposits paid of HK$2,603,000 as rights under 
leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits 
are not payments relating to the right to use the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of such 
deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments are considered as additional lease payments. 
Adjustments to refundable rental deposits paid would be included in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may result in changes in measurement, presentation and 
disclosure as indicated above.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of other new and amendments to HKFRSs and 
interpretations will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group in the 
foreseeable future.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. 
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing 
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial 
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting 
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes 
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics 
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or 
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions 
that are within the scope of HKAS 17 and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair 
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based 
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the 
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity 
can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and 
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights 
to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an 
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the 
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of a joint venture is incorporated in these consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of the joint venture used for equity accounting 
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events 
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is initially recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of 
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income or expense of the joint venture. Changes in net assets of the 
joint venture other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income or expense are not accounted for unless 
such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of 
a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in 
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its 
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or 
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (CONTINUED)

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee 
becomes a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the 
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee 
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after 
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment 
loss with respect to the Group’s investment in a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of 
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by 
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying 
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of 
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the 
investment subsequently increases.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated 
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s 
activities, as described below.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed.

Royalty revenue is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement. 
Royalties determined on a time basis are recognised on a straight line basis over the period of the agreement or 
in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest 
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected 
life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from operating lease is described in the accounting 
policy for leasing below.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative 
purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes (i.e. construction in 
progress) are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees, amortisation 
of prepaid lease payment provided during the construction period and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs 
capitalised in according with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate 
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these 
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment, other than construction 
in progress, less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method. The estimated 
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the 
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 
of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties 
are initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment properties over their estimated 
useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual value, using the straight line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use or no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives 
is recognised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being 
accounted for on a prospective basis. 

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or 
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

LEASING

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operations leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the terms of 
the relevant lease. Initial direct cost incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset. Such costs are recognised as an expenses on a straight line basis over the 
lease terms.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land held under operating leases, are recognised 
as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease terms, except where another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and building
When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification of each element 
separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
of each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in 
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire consideration (including any 
lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the leasehold land and the building elements in proportion 
to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and building element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted 
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated statement of financial 
position and is amortised over the lease terms on a straight line basis. When the lease payments cannot be allocated 
reliably between the land and building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the 
dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
operations with functional currency other than the presentation currency of the Group are translated into the 
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. 
Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated 
significantly during the period, in which cases, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity 
under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, 
government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire 
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position and 
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the 
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit 
or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant, measured as 
the difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefits scheme, state-managed retirement benefit scheme and the 
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are charged as expenses when employees have rendered 
services entitling them to the contributions.

SHORT TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid 
as and when employees rendered the services. All short term employee benefits are recognised as an expense 
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick 
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as 
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of income or 
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities 
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a 
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries 
and interest in a joint venture, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets 
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interest are only recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of 
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount 
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on a first-
in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated 
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when a 
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction cost directly attributable 
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial assets
Financial assets are classified as loans and receivables and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”). The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the 
time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised 
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of financial assets and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is (i) held for trading or (ii) it is designated as at 
FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

• it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a 
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising from remeasurement recognised 
in profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 28.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and other 
receivables and bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment of loans and receivables below).

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the 
recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Loans and 
receivables are considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the loans and receivables, the estimated future cash flows of 
the loans and receivables have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;

• breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest and principal payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of loans and receivables, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be 
impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of 
impairment for a portfolio of trade receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, 
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit period of 30 to 120 days, 
observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on trade receivables.

An impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
the estimated future cash flows discounted at the loans and receivables’ original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the loans and receivables is reduced by the impairment loss directly with the exception 
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes 
in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is 
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is 
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as 
equity instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a 
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities representing trade and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when derivative contracts are entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, 
in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognise its retained interest in the asset 
and associated liability for the amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and 
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and 
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Share options granted to employees
Equity-settled share based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight 
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, 
with a corresponding increase in share options reserve. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises 
its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original 
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, 
with a corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Share options granted to employees (continued)
When the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be 
transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not 
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to 
retained profits.

IMPAIRMENT ON TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order 
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU“) to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable 
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, or 
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation 
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which 
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the 
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the 
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying amount of 
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use 
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the 
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a 
CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the 
Company are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets within the next financial year.

VALUATION OF TRADE RECEIVABLES

The management reviews the aging analysis of trade receivables at the end of each reporting period and 
identifies the long-aged receivables that may not be recoverable in the future. The management considers 
the historical settlement records, subsequent settlement, business relationship, and aging analysis of trade 
receivables in determining the allowance for doubtful debts. Where the future cash flows are less than expected, 
or being revised downward due to changes in facts and circumstances, a further impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 March 2018, the carrying amount of trade receivables is approximately HK$245,905,000 (2017: 
HK$279,629,000), net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$4,279,000 (2017: HK$7,629,000).

VALUATION OF INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The management reviews regularly the 
suitability of the Group’s allowance policy for inventories and carries out review of the inventories at the end 
of each reporting period. The management identifies aged inventories with reference to aging analysis and 
determines the net realisable value for inventories by considering the saleability of inventories based on current 
market demand and future sales plan. When the expectation of the net realisable value is less than the costs, a 
further allowance may arise.

As at 31 March 2018, the carrying amount of inventories is approximately HK$114,561,000 (2017: 
HK$111,465,000), net of allowance of HK$105,025,000 (2017: HK$122,549,000).

VALUATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The management reviews the carrying amounts of its intangible assets to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets have suffered impairment losses at the end of the reporting period. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant CGUs to which the intangible assets have allocated, 
which is the higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal, is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss.

As at 31 March 2018, the carrying amount of intangible assets is HK$55,220,000. The management determines 
that there is no impairment indication and there is no impairment of the Group’s intangible assets.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Whilst the chief operating decision maker, the Company’s executive directors, regularly reviews revenue by 
geographical location of customers, information about profit or loss by geographical location of customers is not 
separately provided to the executive directors for their review. Financial information reported to the executive 
directors for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment is aggregated and focuses on 
the consolidated gross profit analysis of the business of manufacturing and trading of eyewear products of the 
Group as a whole.

As a result, there is only one operating segment for the Group, which is manufacturing and trading of eyewear 
products. Financial information regarding this segment can be made by reference to the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The Group’s revenue is arising from manufacturing and sales of eyewear products.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and the Guangdong Province in the People’s Republic of 
China (the “PRC”). The Group’s information about its non-current assets (excluding interest in a joint venture 
and deferred tax assets) by geographical location of the assets and revenue from external customers analysed by 
place of domicile of the relevant group entity and other places are detailed below:

Non-current assets
2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Places of domicile of the relevant group entity:
Hong Kong 84,695 8,150
Guangdong Province in the PRC 279,819 272,997   

364,514 281,147   

Revenue from 
external customers

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Place of domicile of the relevant group entity:
– Hong Kong 33,900 36,112
– The PRC 84,598 61,550

Other places:
– Italy 458,498 450,598
– United States 270,127 322,256
– Other countries 154,521 196,932   

1,001,644 1,067,448   
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 March 2018, each of the three largest customers of the Group contributes more than 
10% of the Group’s revenue. Revenue attributed from these three customers is approximately HK$295,866,000, 
HK$180,617,000 and HK$125,701,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, each of the four largest customers of the Group contributes more than 
10% of the Group’s revenue. Revenue attributed from these four customers is approximately HK$267,875,000, 
HK$247,575,000, HK$128,059,000 and HK$130,196,000 respectively.

6. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Other income
– Bank interest income 3,194 2,190
– Sales of scrap materials 1,447 219
– Government subsidies (Note) 1,090 –
– Royalty income 440 –
– Rental income 394 297
– Others 156 210   

6,721 2,916   

Other gains and losses
– Impairment losses reversed on trade receivables 4,000 –
– Fair value changes on derivative financial instruments 562 (190)
– Gain (loss) on disposals of property, plant and equipment 356 (255)
– Impairment losses recognised on trade receivables (1,123) (4,240)
– Net foreign exchange losses (1,105) (4,161)
– Bad debts directly written off – (159)   

2,690 (9,005)   

9,411 (6,089)   

Note: Government subsidies mainly represent subsidies for participating in the local electricity saving scheme and 
employments related subsidies. They were credited to profit or loss upon receipt.
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7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

The charge comprises:

Current tax
– Hong Kong Profits Tax 9,951 15,870
– PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) 3,277 3,809
– United States Withholding Tax 132 –   

13,360 19,679   

Overprovision in respect of prior years
– Hong Kong Profits Tax (2,820) (153)
– PRC EIT (656) (2,684)   

(3,476) (2,837)   

Deferred taxation (note 19)
– Current year 551 (697)   

10,435 16,145   

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for both years.

PRC EIT is calculated at 25% of the assessable profits for subsidiaries established in the PRC in accordance with 
the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law.

Under the Law of United States on Income Tax, a withholding tax is required upon income earned by a non-
United States resident enterprise. The withholding tax is calculated at 30% of income received and receivable for 
current year.

A portion of the Group’s profits earned by a principal subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong, which is taxed on 
50:50 apportionment basis, neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong. Accordingly, that portion of the 
Group’s profit is not subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax. Further, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, 
that portion of the Group’s profit is not at present subject to taxation in any other jurisdictions in which the 
Group operates for both years.
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7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Profit before tax 74,708 86,688   

Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% 12,327 14,304
Tax effect of expenses not deductible in determining taxable profit 5,818 7,983
Tax effect of income not assessable in determining taxable profit (2,155) (1,476)
Tax effect of share of loss of a joint venture 44 –
Overprovision in respect of prior years (3,476) (2,837)
Tax effect of Hong Kong Profits Tax on 50:50 apportionment basis (3,128) (4,727)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 14 1,798
Utilisation of tax loss previously not recognised (163) –
Effect of different tax rates of operations in the PRC 1,022 1,100
Withholding tax 132 –   

Income tax expense for the year 10,435 16,145   

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 19.
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8. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:

Auditor's remuneration 1,358 1,338
Cost of inventories recognised as expense (inclusive of allowance for 

inventories of approximately HK$14,282,000 (2017: HK$17,499,000)) 739,381 781,421

Release of prepaid lease payments 91 91

Depreciation and amortisation
– depreciation of property, plant and equipment 49,477 51,175
– depreciation of investment properties 151 71
– amortisation of intangible assets 464 –   

50,092 51,246
Capitalised in inventories (4,200) (3,944)   

45,892 47,302   

Staff costs
– directors' emoluments (note 9) 5,499 4,856
– other staff costs, comprising mainly salaries 374,828 382,053
– retirement benefits scheme contribution excluding those of directors' 36,369 33,688   

416,696 420,597
Capitalised in inventories (59,524) (57,909)   

357,172 362,688   
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the seven (2017: eight) directors, being the senior management of 
the Group, were as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2018 

Fees
Salaries and 

other benefits

Retirement 
benefits scheme 

contribution Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Executive directors
Ku Ngai Yung, Otis 1,000 208 25 1,233
Ku Ka Yung 1,138 48 24 1,210
Chan Chi Sun 930 294 43 1,267
Ma Sau Ching 1,002 342 49 1,393     

4,070 892 141 5,103     

Independent non-executive directors
Lo Wa Kei, Roy 132 – – 132
Lee Kwong Yiu 132 – – 132
Wong Che Man, Eddy 132 – – 132     

396 – – 396     

4,466 892 141 5,499     
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 March 2017 

Fees
Salaries and 

other benefits

Retirement 
benefits scheme 

contribution Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Executive directors
Ku Ngai Yung, Otis 750 208 25 983
Ku Ka Yung 518 438 18 974
Tsang Wing Leung, Jimson (Note) – 126 7 133
Chan Chi Sun 760 294 43 1,097
Ma Sau Ching 918 342 49 1,309     

2,946 1,408 142 4,496     

Independent non-executive directors
Lo Wa Kei, Roy 120 – – 120
Lee Kwong Yiu 120 – – 120
Wong Che Man, Eddy 120 – – 120     

360 – – 360     

3,306 1,408 142 4,856     

Note: Mr. Tsang Wing Leung, Jimson resigned as executive director of the Company on 1 June 2016.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their directorship and/or their services in 
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The non-executive directors’ 
emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

The Company does not officially have a position of Chief Executive Officer. However, Mr. Ku Ngai Yung, Otis 
has been assuming the role of Chief Executive Officer. His emoluments disclosed above include those for services 
rendered by him as the role of Chief Executive Officer.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any 
remuneration in both years.



Sun Hing Vision Group Holdings Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year included four (2017: four) directors of the 
Company whose emoluments are set out in note 9. The emoluments of the remaining one (2017: one) individual 
was as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Salaries and other benefits 1,359 1,139
Retirement benefits scheme contribution 43 43   

1,402 1,182   

The number of the highest paid individuals who are not the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell 
within the following bands is as follows:

2018 2017
Number of 
employees

Number of 
employees   

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1   

During the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the 
directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as 
compensation for loss of office.
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11. DIVIDENDS

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Dividends recognised as distribution during the year:

Final, paid – HK10.0 cents per share for 2017  
(2017: HK10.0 cents per share for 2016) 26,278 26,278

Special final, paid – HK9.0 cents per share for 2017  
(2017: HK7.0 cents per share for 2016) 23,650 18,394

Interim, paid – HK4.5 cents per share for 2018  
(2017: HK4.5 cents per share for 2017) 11,825 11,825

Special interim, paid – HK1.5 cents per share for 2018  
(2017: HK1.5 cents per share for 2017) 3,942 3,942   

65,695 60,439   

A final dividend of HK10.0 cents (2017: HK10.0 cents) per share in total of HK$26,278,000 (2017: 
HK$26,278,000) and a special final dividend of HK2.0 cents (2017: HK9.0 cents) per share in total of 
HK$5,256,000 (2017: HK$23,650,000) in respect of the year ended 31 March 2018 have been proposed by 
the directors of the Company and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general 
meeting.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following 
data:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Earnings
Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings per share 64,055 70,903   

Number of shares
Number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share 262,778,286 262,778,286   

Diluted earnings per share is not presented for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 as there was no 
potential ordinary share outstanding during both years.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 
land and 

buildings in 
Hong Kong

Leasehold 
land and 
buildings 

in the PRC
Leasehold

improvements
Plant and 

machinery
Furniture 

and fixtures
Motor 

vehicles
Construction 

in progress Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000         

COST
At 1 April 2016 8,043 116,481 242,799 442,055 141,102 9,752 2,948 963,180
Exchange adjustments – (1,326) (8) (2) (92) – – (1,428)
Additions – – 7,851 18,761 5,327 307 3,219 35,465
Transfer – – 1,527 – – – (1,527) –
Transfer to investment properties – (7,094) – – – – – (7,094)
Disposal/written off – – – (866) (55) – – (921)         

At 31 March 2017 8,043 108,061 252,169 459,948 146,282 10,059 4,640 989,202
Exchange adjustments – 1,370 114 – 156 – – 1,640
Additions – 2,413 12,221 24,932 7,949 1,689 3,448 52,652
Transfer – – 2,026 – – – (2,026) –
Disposal/written off – – – (715) (44) (1,431) – (2,190)         

At 31 March 2018 8,043 111,844 266,530 484,165 154,343 10,317 6,062 1,041,304         

DEPRECIATION
At 1 April 2016 2,963 22,987 171,889 341,482 122,483 7,790 – 669,594
Exchange adjustments – (14) (4) – (46) – – (64)
Provided for the year 160 2,240 19,307 21,910 6,698 860 – 51,175
Eliminated on transfer to investment 

properties – (106) – – – – – (106)
Eliminated on disposals/write-off – – – (529) (50) – – (579)         

At 31 March 2017 3,123 25,107 191,192 362,863 129,085 8,650 – 720,020
Exchange adjustments – 47 24 – 100 – – 171
Provided for the year 160 2,209 17,523 22,235 6,575 775 – 49,477
Eliminated on disposals/write-off – – – (98) (42) (1,431) – (1,571)         

At 31 March 2018 3,283 27,363 208,739 385,000 135,718 7,994 – 768,097         

CARRYING VALUE
At 31 March 2018 4,760 84,481 57,791 99,165 18,625 2,323 6,062 273,207         

At 31 March 2017 4,920 82,954 60,977 97,085 17,197 1,409 4,640 269,182         
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of owner-occupied leasehold land and buildings in the PRC of HK$15,024,000 (2017: 
HK$14,003,000) at the end of the year included both the leasehold land and building elements in property, plant 
and equipment, as in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, allocations of the carrying amounts between 
the leasehold land and buildings elements cannot be made reliably. The land portions of the remaining owner-
occupied properties were included in prepaid lease payments.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are depreciated on a 
straight line basis at the following rates per annum:

Land and buildings Over the estimated useful lives of 50 years or the terms of leases, 
whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements 10%–20% or the lease terms, whichever is shorter
Plant and machinery 10%–20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

14. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

Prepaid lease payments represent land use rights held in the PRC and are analysed for reporting purposes as:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Non-current asset 3,041 3,132
Current asset 91 91   

3,132 3,223   
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

HK$’000  

COST
At 1 April 2016 –
Transferred from property, plant and equipment 7,094
Exchange adjustments (19)  

At 31 March 2017 7,075
Exchange adjustments 675  

At 31 March 2018 7,750  

DEPRECIATION
At 1 April 2016 –
Transferred from property, plant and equipment 106
Provided for the year 71  

At 31 March 2017 177
Provided for the year 151
Exchange adjustments 21  

At 31 March 2018 349  

CARRYING VALUE
At 31 March 2018 7,401  

At 31 March 2017 6,898  

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March 2018 was approximately HK$8,144,000 (2017: 
HK$7,525,000). The fair value have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective 
dates by BMI Appraisals Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer not connected with the Group. 
BMI Appraisals Limited is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and has appropriate qualifications 
and recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.

The fair value of the investment properties was determined based on the investment approach. The investment 
approach capitalises the current rent passing or the hypothetical rent of property, being held under existing 
tenancy and the reversionary potential of the tenancy if it has been or would be let to tenant.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Significant unobservable inputs used in valuing the investment properties in the PRC included the estimated 
unit rate per square meter (“sq.m.”) and per month, and the yield generated from the average rental from 
comparable properties. The unit rate and the capitalisation rate adopted were ranged from Renminbi (“RMB”) 
195/sq.m./month to RMB208/sq.m./month (2017: from RMB198/sq.m./month to RMB205/sq.m./month), and 
4.5% (2017: 4.5%) respectively.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the highest and best use of the investment properties is 
their current use.

The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of 50 
years or the terms of leases, whichever is shorter.

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

HK$’000  

COST
At 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 –
Additions 55,684  

At 31 March 2018 55,684  

AMORTISATION
At 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 –
Charge for the year (464)  

At 31 March 2018 (464)  

CARRYING VALUE
At 31 March 2018 55,220  

Intangible assets represented trademarks purchased from an independent third party. The trademarks had 
finite useful lives and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is 
calculated using the straight line method over the expected lives of the trademarks, which is determined at 30 
years.
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17. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

2018
HK$’000  

Cost of investment in a joint venture, unlisted 469
Share of post-acquisition loss and other comprehensive expense (280)  

189  

The Group’s joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial statements. 
Details of the Group’s joint venture at the end of the reporting year is as follows:

Name of
joint venture

Place of 
incorporation/
operation

Class of
shares held

Issued and
fully paid
share capital

Proportion of nominal value of
issued share capital
held by the Group

Proportion of
voting power held

Principal activity2018 2017 2018 2017
% % % %         

Olona Crea Srl (“Olona”) Italy Ordinary Euro (“EUR”) 
100,000

49 – 49
(Note)

– Manufacturing of optical 
frames, sunglasses 
and related products

Note: Pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement of Olona, the Group and the joint venturer can appoint 1 and 2 directors to 
the board of directors respectively, the decisions about the significant relevant activities of the joint venture require at 
least 75% voting in the board of directors. The directors consider that the Group and the joint venturer exercise joint 
control over the joint venture and accordingly, it is accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.

INFORMATION OF A JOINT VENTURE THAT IS NOT MATERIAL

2018
HK$’000  

The Group’s share of loss from continuing operations 264  

The Group’s share of other comprehensive expense 16  

The Group’s share of total comprehensive expense 280  

18. DEPOSIT AND OTHER PAYMENTS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF INVESTMENT 
PROPERTIES

During the year, the Group has signed an agreement to acquire investment properties located in Hong Kong. The 
total consideration is HK$120,290,000, of which HK$12,029,000 has been paid during the year, the remaining 
balance  was paid on 31 May 2018, of which HK$48,116,000 was financed by a mortgage loan. The Group has 
also capitalised an amount of HK$10,225,000 which was expenditures directly attributed to the acquisition.
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19. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets 
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting 
purposes:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Deferred tax assets (687) (1,245)
Deferred tax liabilities 669 676   

(18) (569)   

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised by the Group and movements thereon 
during the current and prior years:

Accelerated
tax depreciation

Impairment
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

At 1 April 2016 128 – 128
Credit to profit or loss (37) (660) (697)    

At 31 March 2017 91 (660) (569)
(Credit) charge to profit or loss (109) 660 551    

At 31 March 2018 (18) – (18)    

At 31 March 2018, the Group has unused tax losses of HK$5,187,000 (2017: HK$27,674,000) available to 
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such losses due to the 
unpredictability of future profit streams. The Hong Kong tax losses of HK$2,013,000 (2017: HK$1,927,000) 
may be carried forward indefinitely. At 31 March 2018, the remaining PRC tax losses of HK$3,174,000 (2017: 
HK$25,747,000) will expire in various dates in the next five years.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, 10% withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned 
by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards to non-PRC resident investors of the companies established 
in the PRC. For investors incorporated in Hong Kong, a preferential rate of 5% will be applied. Deferred 
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary differences 
attributable to such undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$17,466,000 
(2017: HK$19,018,000) as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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20. INVENTORIES

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Raw materials 42,704 42,056
Work in progress 58,448 56,146
Finished goods 13,409 13,263   

114,561 111,465   

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group allows a credit period of 30 to 120 days to its customers. The following is an aged analysis of trade 
receivables based on payment due date net of allowance for doubtful debt at the end of the reporting period:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Trade receivables
Current 228,907 266,362
Overdue up to 90 days 13,492 11,712
Overdue more than 90 days 3,506 1,555   

245,905 279,629
Prepayments 2,028 3,568
Deposits 3,679 3,438
Other receivables 1,821 2,176
Amount due from entities controlled by non-controlling shareholder  

of a subsidiary (Note) 2,132 367
Amount due from a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary (Note) – 144   

255,565 289,322   

Note: The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

No interest is charged on the trade receivables. Allowance for doubtful debts are provided for based on assessment 
by the Group of the estimated future cash flows with reference to past default experience. The Group has 
provided fully for all receivables aged over 360 days because historical experience is such that receivables that are 
past due beyond 360 days are generally not recoverable.

Before accepting any new customers, the Group carries out research on the creditability of new customer 
and assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to 
customers are reviewed at least once a year. Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have good 
track records with the Group.
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are receivables with a carrying amount of HK$16,998,000 (2017: 
HK$13,267,000) which are past due at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided for impairment 
loss, as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable 
based on the historical experience. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

MOVEMENT IN THE ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL DEBTS

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

At beginning of the year 7,629 3,609
Impairment losses recognised on trade receivables 1,123 4,240
Amount recovered during the year (4,000) –
Amount written off as uncollectible (836) –
Exchange adjustments 363 (220)   

At end of the year 4,279 7,629   

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of 
trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period.

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The derivative financial instruments mainly represent the foreign currency forward contracts. The Group has 
entered into 8 (2017: 1) United States dollars (“US$”)/RMB contracts in which the Group is able to sell US$/buy 
RMB at fixed exchange rates at a fixed future time. Major terms of the above foreign currency contracts are as 
below:

Aggregate notional amount Maturity Forward exchange rates   

As at 31 March 2018

US$6,600,000 April 2018 to June 2018 Sell US$/buy RMB at 6.328 to 6.364

As at 31 March 2017

US$1,000,000 April 2017 Sell US$/buy RMB at 6.887

23. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits that are interest-bearing 
at market interest rates ranging from 0.01% to 2.56% (2017: 0.01% to 1.61%) per annum and have maturity 
of three months or less.
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on payment due date at the end of the reporting 
period:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Trade payables
Current and overdue up to 90 days 87,790 79,229
Overdue more than 90 days 11,737 14,434   

99,527 93,663
Accruals 74,884 65,590
Amounts due to entities controlled by non-controlling shareholder  

of a subsidiary (Note) 799 239
Amounts due to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary (Note) 417 –
Other payables 10,655 8,813   

186,282 168,305   

Note: The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

25. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of
ordinary shares

Nominal
amount
HK$’000   

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

Authorised:

At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2018 500,000,000 50,000   

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2018 262,778,286 26,278   
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26. SHARE OPTIONS

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 22 August 2014 by Sun Hing Vision, a share option scheme of Sun Hing 
Vision (the “Share Option Scheme”) that complies Listing Rules with the amendments to Chapter 17 of the in 
relation to share option scheme was adopted.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives to eligible employees. Under the Share Option 
Scheme, the board of directors of Sun Hing Vision shall be entitled to, in its absolute discretion, grant options to 
eligible employees of Sun Hing Vision, or any of its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in Sun Hing Vision at a 
price which shall be the highest of (i) the closing price of Sun Hing Vision’s shares quoted on the Stock Exchange 
on the date of offer of the share options; (ii) the average of the closing prices of Sun Hing Vision’s shares quoted 
on the Stock Exchange on the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer of the share options; 
and (iii) the nominal value of the shares. The Share Option Scheme will expire on 21 August 2024.

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to be determined and notified by the board of 
directors to the grantee. Such period may commence on the date after the date of acceptance of such option 
to the tenth anniversary from the date of acceptance of that option. A consideration of HK$1 is payable upon 
acceptance of the offer.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme 
and any other share option scheme established by Sun Hing Vision, if any, is 26,277,828, representing 10% 
of the issued share capital of Sun Hing Vision at the date of approval of the Share Option Scheme. The total 
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be 
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme, if any, shall not exceed 10% of 
the issued share capital of Sun Hing Vision from time to time.

No share options have been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since its 
adoption.

27. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 
and to achieve optimisation of capital structure. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior 
years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued 
share capital, share premium, reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure periodically. As part of this review, the directors 
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on 
recommendations of management of the Group, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the 
payment of dividends.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

28A. CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 644,880 711,594
FVTPL

Derivative financial instruments 566 4

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 109,474 103,413   

28B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other receivables, derivative financial instruments, 
bank balances and cash and trade and other payables. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in 
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate 
these risks are set out below. Management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate 
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

Certain group entities have sales and purchases denominated in US$, RMB, EUR and Japanese Yen 
(“JPY”) other than the functional currency of respective entities, which expose the Group to market 
risk arising from changes in foreign exchange rates.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary 
liabilities which included trade and other receivables, bank balances and cash and trade and other 
payables, excluding derivative financial instruments, at the reporting date are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2018 2017 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

US$ 481,085 606,542 15,447 22,047
RMB 50,060 47,373 35,611 46,591
EUR 326 942 1,858 2,034
JPY 241 66 540 1,477     

Management of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and uses foreign exchange forward 
contracts and/or other appropriate tools to mitigate foreign currency exposure when necessary.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

28B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of relevant foreign currency against HK$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in the relevant foreign 

currency against the functional currency of the relevant group entities. 5% represents the reasonably 

possible change in foreign exchange rates if currency risk is to be assessed by key management. The 

sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding relevant foreign currency denominated monetary items, 

excluding derivative financial instruments, and except US$ as the directors of the Company consider 

that the Group’s exposure to US$ is insignificant on the ground that HK$ is pegged to US$. The 

sensitivity analysis adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A 

positive (negative) number below indicates an increase (decrease) in post-tax profit where the relevant 

foreign currency weakens 5% against HK$. For a 5% strengthening of the relevant foreign currency 

against HK$, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit.

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000   

RMB impact (603) (33)

EUR impact 64 46

JPY impact 12 59   

(ii) Interest rate risk

The directors of the Company consider the Group’s exposure of the bank balances to interest rate 

risk is insignificant as interest bearing bank balances are within short maturity period. Besides, as the 

fluctuation of market interest rate is not expected to be significant, no sensitivity analysis is prepared.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

28B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2018, other than those financial assets whose carrying amounts best represent the 

maximum exposure to credit risk, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial 

loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is represented by the 

carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement 

of financial position. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other receivables, 

derivative financial instruments and bank balances.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for 

determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up 

action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each 

individual trade debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are 

made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s 

credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risks on derivative financial instruments and liquid funds are limited because the counterparties 

are banks with good reputation.

The Group has concentration of credit risks with exposure limited to certain counterparties and customers. 

At the end of reporting period, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for HK$174,979,000 (2017: 

HK$232,094,000) of the Group’s trade receivables. Apart from delegating a team for determining the 

credit limits, credit approval and other monitoring procedures on customers, the Group had also explored 

new markets and new customers in order to minimise the concentration of credit risk.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

28B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the 
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based 
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates for the non-derivative 
financial liabilities are based on agreed repayment dates. The table includes principal cash flows as these 
financial liabilities are non-interest bearing.

Liquidity table

On demand
or 1–30 days 31–90 days 91–365 days

Total
undiscounted

cash flows

Carrying
amount at
31.3.2018

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

2018
Non-derivative financial 

instruments
Trade and other payables 87,981 9,604 11,889 109,474 109,474      

On demand
or 1–30 days 31–90 days 91–365 days

Total
undiscounted

cash flows

Carrying
amount at
31.3.2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

2017
Non-derivative financial 

instruments
Trade and other payables 84,117 4,646 14,650 103,413 103,413      
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

28C. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting 
period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial instruments are 
determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the level of fair value 
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to 
which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable.

Financial assets

Fair value
as at
31.3.2018

Fair value
as at
31.3.2017

Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation techniques
and key inputs     

Derivative financial 
instruments  
(note 22)

Assets –  
HK$566,000

Assets – 
HK$4,000

Level 2 Future cash flows are estimated based on 
forward exchange rates (from observable 
forward exchange rates at the end of the 
reporting period) and contracted forward 
rates

There were no transfers into and out of Level 2 in the current and prior years.

Except the above financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, the directors of 
the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting period.

29. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITY ARISING FROM A FINANCING ACTIVITY

The table below details changes in the Group’s liability arising from a financing activity, including both cash and 
non-cash changes. Liability arising from a financing activity is that for which cash flow was, or future cash flows 
will be classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flow from a financing activity.

Dividend
payable
HK$’000  

As at 1 April 2017 –
Dividends declared 65,695
Financing cash flows (65,695)  

As at 31 March 2018 –  
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30. OPERATING LEASES

THE GROUP AS A LEASEE

The Group made minimum lease payments of approximately HK$16,707,000 (2017: HK$13,999,000) under 
operating leases during the year in respect of premises.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Within one year 19,162 16,280
In the second to fifth year inclusive 24,586 24,987
Over five years 6,335 7,750   

50,083 49,017   

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its premises. Leases are 
negotiated for an average term of one to ten years and rentals are fixed over the lease terms.

THE GROUP AS A LESSOR

Property rental income earned during the year was approximately HK$394,000 (2017: HK$297,000), net of 
negligible outgoings.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenant in respect of it investment properties 
for future minimum lease payments which fall due as fellow:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Within one year 123 78   

Operating lease arrangements represent rentals receivable by the Group’s premises. Leases are negotiated for an 
average term of within one year and rentals are fixed over the lease terms.
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31. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in the consolidated 
financial statements in respect of:
– Acquisition of investment properties 108,261 –
– Acquisition of plant and machinery 10,145 4,743
– Factory under construction or renovation 9,822 3,593   

128,228 8,336   

Commitments contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial 
statements in respect of license fee for brand names:
Within one year 6,131 9,408
In the second to fifth year inclusive 5,468 8,511   

11,599 17,919   

139,827 26,255   

32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Effective from 1 December 2000, the Group has joined the MPF Scheme for its employees in Hong Kong. The 

MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory Provident 

Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds 

under the control of an independent trustee. Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees 

are each required to make contributions to the scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only obligation of the 

Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by 

the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the 

retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect of the retirement 

benefit schemes is to make the required contributions under the schemes.
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32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The Group operated a defined contribution retirement benefits scheme (“Defined Contribution Scheme”) for 

certain employees. The assets of the scheme were held in funds under the control of an independent trustee. 

Where there were employees who leave the Defined Contribution Scheme prior to vesting, the contribution 

payable by the Group are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions.

The retirement benefits scheme contribution arising from the Defined Contribution Scheme, the MPF Scheme 

and the PRC state-managed retirement benefit scheme charged to profit or loss represents contributions paid 

and payable to the funds by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$36,510,000 (2017: HK$33,830,000) represents contributions paid 

and payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of the current financial year.

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with related party:

Relationship with related party Nature of transaction 2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000    

An entity controlled by non-controlling 
shareholder of a subsidiary Management fees 30 80    

COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Key management personnel of the Group comprised of directors. The compensation of directors of the Company 

for both years are set out in note 9.

The remuneration of key management personnel were determined by the remuneration committee having 

regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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34. SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

2018 2017
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000    

NON-CURRENT ASSET
Investment in a subsidiary 111,968 111,968    

CURRENT ASSETS
Amounts due from subsidiaries 233,151 283,057
Other assets 4,844 4,544    

237,995 287,601    

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Amounts due to subsidiaries 161,987 161,837
Other liabilities 405 390    

162,392 162,227    

NET CURRENT ASSETS 75,603 125,374    

187,571 237,342    

Share capital 26,278 26,278
Share premium and reserve (i) 161,293 211,064    

187,571 237,342    

Note:

(i) Share premium and reserve
Share premium Retained profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

At 1 April 2016 78,945 147,921 226,866
Profit for the year – 44,637 44,637
Dividends recognised as distribution (note 11) – (60,439) (60,439)    

At 31 March 2017 78,945 132,119 211,064
Profit for the year – 15,924 15,924
Dividends recognised as distribution (note 11) – (65,695) (65,695)    

At 31 March 2018 78,945 82,348 161,293    
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35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 March 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of incorporation/
establishment and 
operation

Issued and
fully paid ordinary 
share capital/
registered capital

Proportion of nominal value of
issued share capital/registered capital

held by the Company
Principal activities2018 2017      

Sun Hing Optical International Group Limited 
(Note a)

The BVI HK$106 100% 100% Investment holding

101 (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$4 100% 100% Sales of optical frames, sunglasses 
and related products

101 Studio Limited Hong Kong HK$9 100% 100% Sales of optical frames, sunglasses 
and related products

New Prosperity Optical Manufactory Limited The BVI/PRC US$1 100% 100% Property holding

Sun Hing Optical Manufactory Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100% Manufacturing and sales of optical 
frames, sunglasses and related 
products

Yorkshire Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$10 100% 100% Property holding

紫金縣新基眼鏡五金配件 
有限公司 (Note b)

The PRC HK$100,200,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of optical frames, 
sunglasses and related 
products

東莞新溢眼鏡製造有限公司 (Note b) The PRC US$34,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of optical frames, 
sunglasses and related 
products

深圳佰萊德貿易有限公司 (Note b) The PRC US$3,000,000 100% 100% Sales of optical frames, sunglasses 
and related products

廣州市窗外企業管理有限公司 (Note b) The PRC RMB4,000,000 51% 51% Sales of optical frames, sunglasses 
and related products

101 Studio Investment Limited (Note c) Hong Kong HK$2 100% – Trademark holding

SHV Holdings Limited (Note d) Hong Kong HK$2 100% – Properties holding
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35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a) Sun Hing Optical International Group Limited is directly held by the Company and all other subsidiaries are indirectly held.

(b) The subsidiaries established in the PRC are registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises.

(c) The subsidiary was incorporated on 13 October 2017.

(d) The subsidiary was incorporated on 2 November 2017.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, 
principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion 
of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities subsisting at 31 March 2018 or at any time during the 
year.

36. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

COMPLETION OF THE ACQUISITION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group has completed the acquisition of investment 
properties as stated in Note 18.
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RESULTS

Year ended 31 March
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Revenue 1,176,972 1,213,513 1,077,641 1,067,448 1,001,644      

Profit before tax 48,434 82,997 63,416 86,688 74,708
Income tax expense (3,743) (16,190) (8,851) (16,145) (10,435)      

Profit for the year 44,691 66,807 54,565 70,543 64,273      

Profit (loss) for the year 
attributable to:
Owners of the Company 44,691 67,007 55,440 70,903 64,055
Non-controlling interests – (200) (875) (360) 218      

44,691 66,807 54,565 70,543 64,273      

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

At 31 March
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Total assets 1,138,451 1,138,944 1,125,204 1,110,201 1,127,798
Total liabilities (214,843) (202,236) (200,239) (178,053) (189,902)      

Shareholders’ equity 923,608 936,708 924,965 932,148 937,896      

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 923,608 935,596 924,762 932,374 937,817
Non-controlling interests – 1,112 203 (226) 79      

923,608 936,708 924,965 932,148 937,896      
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